

PARTNERSHIP 9 JULY 2020

PRESENT:

COUNCILLOR E J POLL (LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL) (CHAIRMAN)

District Councillor Roger Gambba-Jones (South Holland District Council) (Vice-Chairman), District Councillor Yvonne Stevens (Boston Borough Council), District Councillor Bob Bushell (City of Lincoln Council), District Councillor Mervyn Head (North Kesteven District Council), Councillor Owen Bierley (West Lindsey District Council), Christian Allen (Boston Borough Council), Steve Bird (City of Lincoln Council), Victoria Burgess (East Lindsey District Council), David Steels (North Kesteven District Council), Emily Spicer (South Holland District Council), Ian Yates (South Kesteven District Council) and Ady Selby (West Lindsey District Council)

Councillors: attended the meeting as observers

Officers in attendance:-

31 ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN

It was proposed, seconded and

RESOLVED

That Councillor E J Poll be elected as Chairman of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership for the year 2020 – 2021.

32 <u>ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN</u>

It was proposed, seconded and

RESOLVED

That Councillor R Gambba-Jones be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership for the year 2020 - 2021

33 <u>APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE</u>

There were no apologies for absence.

34 <u>DECLARATION OF INTERESTS</u>

There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.

35 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 MARCH 2020

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2020 be agreed and signed by the Chairman subject to the following points being noted:

- In the apologies, Councillor Head was recorded as representing East Lindsey District Council instead of North Kesteven District Council.
- Minute number 26 last line replace 'by' with 'be'.

36 PARTNER UPDATES

Each Partner authority was provided with the opportunity to update the rest of the Partnership on any developments or updates which may be of interest to the Partnership. The following was noted:

South Kesteven District Council

It was reported that staffing levels were now starting to return to normal. The green waste collection service had continued, with high demand for this service and a further 1000 new customers had signed up. Additional funding had been allocated to ensure the demand can be met.

The district was also working closely with the County Council on One Public Estate.

The Chairman congratulated the district for continuing the service as normally as possible, and thanked all involved for their work.

Boston Borough District Council

Officers thanked David Steels from North Kesteven District Council who was stepping down as Chairman of the Strategic Officer Working Group after 18 months, and had done a fantastic job as Chairman during this time.

It was reported that the district had managed to maintain waste collection services throughout the pandemic, and there had been a commitment from the Partnership to ensure that services could continue through a rapidly evolving situation.

It was also reported that the district had also seen a significant change in the amount of fly-tipping, which had also been highlighted in the press. The amounts of fly tipping being reported in the last three months had doubled when compared with the same time the previous year. It was noted that this pattern was being replicated across the Partnership. It was suggested that this needed to be a priority going into 2021.

It was highlighted that the plans for the Boston Alternative Energy Facility or gasification facility had been paused and there was now a new energy from waste facility proposal.

This would have the same amount of residual waste throughput, of 1.3m tonnes per annum. The consultation was due to start in the coming weeks. A report would be presented to the scrutiny committee in August 2020 and officers were happy to share any further information with the Partnership.

It was queried whether there was any indication of the costs of clearing up the fly tipped waste, and whether there was any hazardous waste amongst it. The Partnership was advised that the costs were being investigated and the type of waste being seen in volume of van loads and car loads, consisting of building waste, white goods, mattresses etc.

In terms of the additional residual waste being collected, it was queried whether there were any questions being asked of commercial operators regarding their volumes of waste and if there was any correlation. It was queried whether more waste was being generated or whether there had just been a shift in the direction of the collection as more people worked from home. It was acknowledged that this was something which was being investigated.

The following suggestions were made in relation to an approach to tackling fly tipping:

- All districts should consider increasing their communications around warning residents of the dangers of not checking the credentials of people offering to take waste away for a charge.
- Could the Partnership petition the government on increasing the levels of penalties for fly-tipping.
- Could the partnership liaise with the highways department and district councils on a piece of work to identify the entry and egress of the sites used by fly-tippers.

There was support for of these suggestions, and the Chairman highlighted that since the Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) had reopened, they had never been fully booked and there were plenty of appointments for residents who needed to dispose of waste. Most of the fly tipping being reported was being dumped by rogue traders. It was emphasised that the public needed to be reminded that if their waste ends up being left in an inappropriate place, they were still responsible for it, and that fly tipping was a criminal behaviour.

It was highlighted that there was a national algorithm that would work out the costs of clearing up fly-tipping. West Lindsey District Council reported that so far this year it had spent £76,000 on clearing fly-tipped waste, compared to £55,000 for the whole of 2019.

It was reported that the amount of trade waste being collected had significantly reduced, but it was starting to recover.

East Lindsey District Council

It was reported that a new fleet of vehicles had been purchased. However, the new rounds and a change of working practices had inadvertently been scheduled to be implemented in the same week as the peak of the Covid-19 pandemic. However, due to the skill of the staff these changes were brought in and also the service was completely changed to deal with Covid-19. It was commented that this also demonstrated how well

the officers of the Partnership had worked together during this time. When the new rounds were rolled out, leaflets were distributed to households setting out the new materials that would be collected.

East Lindsey had not seen a particularly large rise in fly tipping, and officers were examining data to understand why the district had not seen the same increase. The fleet maintenance contract would be going out to tender shortly.

City of Lincoln Council

Collections had continued throughout the pandemic.

An impact on waste streams had been seen since the start of the pandemic, with increased numbers of people working from home. It was also noted that there had been an additional 1000 customers signing up for the green waste collection.

It was also noted that the increased numbers of people working from home had caused some access issues for the collection vehicles, the response from the highways department regarding enforcement of parking restrictions had been patchy.

Concerns were raised regarding whether the booking system for HWRC's was creating a barrier for people who needed to dispose of waste. However, in terms of disposal of green waste, the household waste recycling centres should be the last resort, and more people should use the green waste collection service as they were good value for money as well as being more environmentally friendly.

West Lindsey District Council

It was reported that the fleet maintenance contract had come to an end, and a new contract had been agreed on a 1 + 1 basis for the existing contract.

The amount of green waste collected had increased from the previous year, this was likely due to the fact that there were more people working from home and they had more time to care of their environment/

All of the planning conditions for the new depot had been fulfilled and work was expected to start on site in September 2020. The build time was anticipated to be one year.

In terms of fly tipping in the district, it was noted that there had been an increase of 300 – 500% on the previous year. Tackling climate change remained a priority for the district and a consultation document had been published which closed in mid-august 2020 and would inform the Climate Change Strategy.

South Holland District Council

The fleet had been brought in house from 1 April 2020. The district had also been part of the paper and card trial which had been taking place in the county, and had been successful.

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, changes had had to be made to crews, and hundreds of tonnes of extra waste had been collected. However, all services had continued without interruption. Bulky waste and fly tipping had increased by 72% during the lockdown period.

The district was part of the district council network and was working with Defra.

North Kesteven District Council

It was reported that there was a similar picture in North Kesteven, and the maintenance crews had been brought in house at the beginning of April 2020, and were happy to be part of the NK team.

In terms of fly tipping, between April and June 2019 the district had 173 fly tips reported, in the same period for 2020 there were 308 reported cases. It was noted that this did include some large fly-tips.

Lincolnshire County Council

It was reported that all waste transfers stations had remained open. The HWRC's had closed until government guidance changed to allow them to reopen.

An analysis of the waste and tonnages collected during the lockdown period was being collected.

It was commented that the need to use the booking system for HWRC's had been found to be an improved experience and it was hoped that this system would remain in place permanently. It was noted that positive feedback had been received from customers who had visited the sites, as they had been able to dispose of their waste without feeling rushed. The only problem was that the staff wanted to help people unload but they were not able to due to the restrictions in place.

One councillor commented that parts of their area were a long way from a Lincolnshire HWRC, but there were three which were nearer but were over the Lincolnshire border. Under normal circumstances residents were able to access these sites. It was highlighted that residents in the north of the county were still able to access HWRC's in North and North East Lincolnshire but they required a permit, for which there was a charge.

A discussion took place regarding the increase in fly tipping in most parts of the county since the start of the lockdown, and it was commented that fly-tipping was a behavioural issue. The booking system was enabling trends in behaviour to be identified, and the aim was to further develop this process in order to better restrict commercial activity.

It was commented that fly tipping but never be completely stopped, but it seemed that a lot of the waste was coming from small building projects, and it was queried whether there was a way of introducing a registration system for small building projects, for example for householders to have to state how they would dispose of the waste.

Officers assured members of the Partnership that the comments and suggestions put forward would feed into developing an action plan and interventions for tackling fly tipping. It would be a partnership approach and it would remain on the agenda for the Strategic Officer Working Group (SOWG). It was requested whether the SOWG could collect information in relation to costs of clearing the fly-tipped waste, what it consisted of as well as tonnages.

37 <u>LWP OPERATIONAL RESPONSE TO COVID-19</u>

The Partnership received an update from David Steels, North Kesteven District Council, which set out the Partnership's operational response to Covid-19.

It was reported that the Partnership had worked together well to ensure that districts responded to all situations and put safety first. The public were also thanked for their positive feedback for the waste collection and disposal infrastructure. A lot of work had gone into getting to this position and to be able to maintain the collection and disposal rates with minimal disruption.

In terms of tonnages, it had been possible to maintain the service in a way that was Covid-compliant. There had been a marked increase in residual waste.

A review of rounds had been carried out in East Lindsey which had been an additional impact to deal with. There had been good working relationships throughout the Partnership and it was now in a better position to be able to respond in the future, and it was noted that there were a number of things which had been implemented which would not change.

38 LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP - ANNUAL REPORT

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership with the opportunity to consider its Annual Report for 2019/20. It was noted that in January 2019 the Partnership adopted a new Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire and in order to monitor progress towards achieving the strategic objectives the Partnership committed to produce an Annual Report. The first report covered the year from April 2019 to March 2020. It was noted that there were two versions of the report, one of which was a more summarised version for members of the public.

It was commented that this was a very good report and one member highlighted objectives 9 and 10 of the report. It was noted that it was important to have a forward looking Partnership and to always be looking for innovation.

The Chairman commented that a better level of recycling was starting to be seen and he was looking forward to seeing significant improvements to recycling being made.

It was queried how it was planned to distribute the document to as wide a population as possible, as there would be a number of schools who would be interested in receiving it.

There was also a suggestion that the recycling messages needed to also be communicated to the non-english speaking communities. In terms of publicity, it was acknowledged that this was something that needed to be examined, but it was also noted that it was not likely that hard copies of the report would be produced. However, the report would be available electronically.

It was reported that in terms of communications, there was some very good joint working taking place with communications colleagues. The language issues would be looked into further to ensure that it was fully accessible. The communications teams were aware that they would be assisting with the promotion of the report.

RESOLVED

That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership approved both documents as ready for publication as the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership Annual Report 2019/20

39 UPDATE ON THE PAPER & CARD TRIAL

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Partnership with an update on the paper and card trial which commenced in July 2019. It was highlighted that the LWP had previously agreed to commence a trial to collect paper and card separately from the rest of the mixed dry recycling. Households from three waste collection authorities were selected for involvement in the trial — Boston Borough Council, North Kesteven District Council and South Holland District Council. Paper and card was collected from just over 7000 households and was sent to a dedicated processor. So far 373 tonnes of paper and card had been collected during the trial, and the quality reports of the material collected were consistently high at 99.12%. Work to engage with members of the public who were participating in the trial was continuing. The trial had been particularly well received by residents in Boston Borough and the majority were happy with the size of the bins provided. It was noted that the survey had been carried out before the Covid-19 pandemic. 94% of the residents taking part in the trial had indicated that they would like to carry on separating the paper and card.

One member commented that they were very supportive of the trial, but there were concerns that in Boston there were a lot of Victorian and narrow streets, and there were some access issues particularly where residents may leave the bins out on the roadside, which could cause a problem for people with push chairs, or in wheel chairs. It was acknowledged that there would be a need to look carefully at what residents were given to separate paper and card into.

In terms of the mixed dry recycling, it was commented that there had been a programme on TV a few weeks earlier which had showed UK recycling being shipped to countries such as Turkey. It was suggested that there was a need to ensure that Lincolnshire's dry recycling did not leave the county. It was noted that the waste and recycling industry was international, however with recent events there had been restrictions on imports imposed, and so there was a need to be more independent and it was hoped that policy changes would drive some of that infrastructure which would be needed. There was a need to create a market for Lincolnshire's recycled material, by ensuring it was of the highest quality. It was noted that this was a key part of the 10 year plan. It was also highlighted

that Lincolnshire's waste was disposed of and processed as close to the county as possible.

RESOLVED

- 1. That further investigation take place to determine the options set out in the report in order to understand the implications of rolling out the initiative across the county.
- 2. To concentrate on the communication and engagement activities to reduce the levels of contamination in the MDR stream and gather data to understand effectiveness.

40 MIXED DRY RECYCLABLES CONTRACT UPDATE

John Coates, Head of Waste (Lincolnshire County Council) provided the Partnership with an update in relation to the mixed dry recyclables (MDR) contract. It was reported that the contract had been awarded to Mid-UK recycling and commenced on 1 July 2020. They would utilise the facilities of Caythorpe and Barkwith. The contract would allow for separate waste streams to be collected and would achieve savings in the long term.

41 PERFORMANCE MEASURES UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report which set out progress against new Key Performance Indicators (KPI) agreed by the Partnership in November 2019 to measure progress against the vision and objectives set out in its Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS). The KPI's would relate to four strategic themes:

- Waste hierarchy how well waste minimisation and recycling was being prioritised;
- Contamination recycling contamination rate (kerbside recycling);
- Carbon overall LWP waste management carbon footprint (per head);
- Customer friendly satisfaction with waste collections/HWRC's.

It was noted that the data presented covered the year to March 2020 and therefore predated the main effected of the Covid-19 situation. Specific data in relation to this would be reported to the LWP separately.

It was reported that there had been a slight increase in kg's collected per household of recyclable materials. It was noted that the recycling rates were going in the right direction with an increased quantity and also the percentage of contamination had reduced slightly.

It was also noted that there had been an increase in green waste, however, it was acknowledged that this was variable depending on weather conditions. There had been a general downward trend in the amount of green waste collected so a continued increase may not be seen.

There had been a change in tonnages collected since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. It was also noted that the closure of the HWRC's for a couple of months will

have had an effect, as the recycling rates for these sites was very high. However, it was hoped that things would continue to move in the right direction.

Thanks were given to the LCC Waste Strategy Manager for the support and assistance provided to the officer working group in analysing the data.

RESOLVED

- 1. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership notes the charts and commentary provided in relation to the Waste Hierarchy;
- 2. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership notes the plans set out in the report for the future reporting of KPI's for the Contamination, Carbon and Customer Friendliness themes.

42 FUTURE MEETING DATES 2021

RESOLVED

That the following meeting dates for the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership in 2021 be approved:

- Thursday, 4 March 2021 11.00am
- Thursday, 8 July 2021 11.00am
- Thursday, 18 November 2021 11.00am

43 <u>LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP FORWARD PLAN</u>

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership considered its forward plan and the following was noted:

- The second round of consultations from Defra were now unlikely to happen until Spring 2021 and it was suggested this should be added to the agenda for the meeting scheduled for 4 March 2021.
- It was noted that the draft response for the consultation on a plastics tax would be circulated to Partners as the response date had been pushed back to the middle of August 2020.

The meeting closed at 12.20 pm